DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS
Your Directors present to you the 95th Annual
Report of Kemp & Denning Limited (K&D) together
with the financial statements of K&D for the year
ending 31 May 2018 (FY18).
In compliance with the provisions of the
Corporations Act 2001, the Directors report as
follows:

FINANCIAL RESULTS
The Directors are satisfied with the progress and
improvement of the Company during the past
year. Following the continued reorganisation of the
business, we are pleased to report the Company
is now stable and profitable and has improved its
financial position with net assets increasing from
$23,473,122 to $25,302,171.
Our guidance at the start of FY2018 was to breakeven before one-off restructuring costs associated
with the closure of Cambridge and our CBD Timber
Yard. Further, we expected some improvement
in our balance sheet due to positive asset
revaluations. During the year, your Directors made
the additional decision to sell our property at 90
Melville Street and together these factors delivered
a full year profit from continuing operations of
$1,212,213. This result was well beyond our guidance
and when compared against the corresponding
trading loss last year of $4,555,311 was particularly
pleasing. Major contributors to this profit result
were the sale of pre-CGT property, plant and
equipment, realising a total accounting gain of
$2,043,831, the realised gain on this property
against cost is $3,393,831.
Decisive action to reorganise our business has
delivered a stronger, more focused and de-risked
operation. As our accounts demonstrate, our
balance sheet is strong and your Directors believe
that by divesting loss making assets we have
opened up new opportunities for expansion. K&D is
in excellent shape and we have every confidence in
our long-term future.
Having achieved significant progress in the year
just completed, our objective to rebuild the value
of K&D has not changed and in this regard we
continue to strive to improve the efficiency of our
existing hardware business whilst looking for new
opportunities to grow shareholders equity.
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Sales
EBITDA
EBIT
PBT
NPAT

Continuing Operations
FY18
FY17
$
$
15,354,980
22,662,069
1,621,839
(432,688)
1,223,093
(3,277,249)
1,204,755
(3,506,813)
1,212,213
(4,555,311)

Total Assets
Total Liabilities
Net Assets
Cash at Bank
Impairments
Provisions
Dividends

26,794,017
(1,491,846)
25,302,171
7,419,872
505,849
(1,073,454)

37,953,060
(14,479,938)
23,473,122
38,104
1,251,622
1,234,065
-

DIVIDENDS
A dividend of 20.0 cents per share was paid on
28 September 2017, fully franked and a further
dividend of 20.0 cents per share was paid on
28 March 2018, fully franked. Directors have
determined to declare a 20.0 cent ($536,727)
fully franked final dividend in respect of the 2018
financial year which will be paid on 27 September
2018 for shares held on the 20 September 2018.
The total dividends paid in FY18 were 40.0 cents
per share. In the context of our current strategy,
your Directors plan to maintain an ongoing future
dividend. No dividends were paid in FY17.

SAFETY
At Board level and across the business, safety
remains a priority. A documented Safety
Management System provides guidance and
structure to all activities performed throughout
K&D. Safe handling and clear chain of responsibility
is understood across our business as we continue
to strive to deliver a safe and happy work and
shopping environment.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Company during the
year were merchants of timber, building supplies,
hardware and home related products.
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SHARE TRADING

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

We have an existing platform for the trading of
shares in the Company. If you go to our website
at www.kdltd.com.au and click on the Investor
Information menu, all relevant information is
provided. Please be aware, other than providing
a platform for Share transaction information and
processing Share transfers, the Company has no
involvement in the process.

1. To lay solid foundations for management and
oversight
The Board strives to build Shareholder value and
ensure that Shareholders’ funds are prudently
safeguarded.

CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
We continued our downsizing activities with the
closure of our Cambridge store in August 2017 and
although we have managed our costs to restore
profitability we have determined the Hobart
CBD Hardware business has limited potential for
earnings growth and in its current form significantly
undervalues and underutilises the land asset.
During the year, the Board has explored a number
of options to maximise the future return of the CBD
site and continues to work closely with interested
parties on a redevelopment that will deliver longterm consistent returns for our shareholders.
It is anticipated that any future redevelopment
will include a hardware business to service the
immediate catchment.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There has not been any material change in the
business, financial condition, operations or results
of operations of the Company since 31 May 2018.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
Disclosure of further information regarding
likely developments could result in unreasonable
prejudice to the Company. Accordingly, this
information has not been disclosed in this report.

SHARE OPTIONS
No Share Options have been granted and there are
no Share Options outstanding. Your Directors are
considering how Share Options may be used to
support our current growth strategy.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Your Board reviews and, whilst not obligated by
law, considers Corporate Governance Principles
and recommendations published by the Australian
Stock Exchange (ASX) Corporate Governance
Committee (CGC) when considering company
practices. This statement reflects the 8 central ASX
CGC principles.

K&D’s Constitution, which sets out the
provisions that govern the internal management
of K&D, can only be amended by a Special
Resolution of Shareholders. Under the
Constitution, Shareholders elect Directors
whose function is to represent Shareholders
by ensuring that the best interests of K&D are
protected.
The Board’s functions include;
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

2. To structure the Board to add value
K&D’s Constitution prescribes that the Board
must comprise at least 3 and a maximum
of 7 members. The Board considers that
its membership should comprise Directors
with an appropriate mix of skills, experience
and personal attributes to allow Directors
individually and the Board collectively to;
•
•

•
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Approving K&D’s strategies, budgets, plans
and policies.
Assessing performance against strategies
and considering the continuing suitability of
those strategies.
Reviewing operating information to
understand at all times the state of K&D.
Considering management recommendations
on proposed acquisitions, divestments and
significant capital expenditure.
Considering management recommendations
on capital management and other financing
proposals.
Ensuring K&D operates within an appropriate
corporate governance structure.
Approving K&D’s risk management strategy
and frameworks.
Considering the social, ethical and
environmental impact of K&D’s activities and
monitoring compliance with K&D’s related
policies.
Monitoring internal governance.

Discharge their responsibilities under the law
effectively and efficiently.
Understand the business and the
environment within which K&D operates so
as to be able to agree with management the
objectives, goals and strategic direction that
will maximise Shareholder value.
Assess the performance of management in
meeting those objectives.
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The Chairman and Deputy Chairman are
appointed by the Board and provide leadership
to ensure that a high standard of values,
processes and constructive interaction is
maintained.
Director Independence
Whilst all your Directors would consider
themselves to be independent non-executive
Directors, the Board recognises that currently,
according to the ASX Recommendations, 2
members of the Board would not be considered
independent.
Your Directors, in balancing the need to
maintain continuity and appropriately staged
succession, are committed to achieving a
majority independent Board.
Conflicts of Interest
The Board has processes in place to ensure
conflicts of interest, that may arise from time to
time, are managed appropriately.

3. To act ethically and responsibly
K&D has a framework of policies, underpinned
by its goals, values and ethics. These are
reviewed regularly and updated or adjusted
appropriately in keeping with changing
social, political, regulatory and commercial
expectations.
4. To have a structure that independently verifies
and safeguards the integrity of K&D’s financial
reporting.
The CGC operates independently from
management and advises the Board on all
aspects of external audit, the adequacy of
accounting and risk management procedures,
systems, controls and financial reporting.
Procedures for the selection and appointment,
to ensure the external auditor is independent,
are in place and the external auditor annually
confirms his/her independence within
the meaning of applicable legislation and
professional standards.

Election of Directors
The Board takes on the role of nomination
and governance committee and considers
the following criteria when recommending
Directors;

5. To make timely and balanced disclosure
As an Unlisted Public Company we are required
to report to Shareholders annually. It is your
Directors’ current position to also report at the
time of the Interim Dividend.

•

6. To respect the right of security holders.
Your Board strives to communicate effectively
with Shareholders about K&D’s performance,
presenting this Annual Report and other
information in clear language.

•
•
•

Determining the appropriate size and
composition of the Board.
Determining the appropriate criteria for the
appointment of Directors.
Recommending the appointment and
removal of Directors.
Determining terms and conditions of
appointments to and retirement from the
Board.

The Chairman takes responsibility for overseeing
the induction of new Directors.
K&D aims to have a Board which, as a whole,
has a range of skills, knowledge, background
and experience to govern K&D and is made
up of individuals of high integrity, with sound
commercial judgement and inquiring minds and
able to cohesively work with other Directors.
Performance Evaluation
The performance of the Board, both individually
and collectively, is reviewed regularly.

7. To recognise and manage risk.
There are many risks in the markets in which
K&D operates. A range of factors, some of
which are beyond our control, can influence
performance of K&D.
K&D has risk management policies which set
out the framework for risk management, internal
compliance and control systems. Directors
regularly review the risks and take action to
appropriately balance and mitigate these risks.
Senior management manages and regularly
reports to the Board on business and financial
risks including the management of K&D’s Health
and Safety environment, liabilities and legal
responsibilities.
8. To remunerate fairly and responsibly
K&D’s policy is to reward management with a
fixed remuneration. Non-Executive Directors
receive no incentive payments and there are no
retirement benefits schemes in place.
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DIRECTORS
Directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year together with details of qualifications
and experience and relevant interests in the ordinary shares of K&D are as follows:
Name

Qualifications, Experience &
Special Responsibilities

Shareholding
(Relevant Interest)

G Goodman
FAICD
(Chairman)

Chairman of G & JA Goodman Pty Ltd T/A Goodman
Consulting. Chairman of Shellfish Culture Ltd and Eyre
Shellfish Pty Ltd. Formerly - Group Chief Executive
Officer of RACT and Director of RACT Insurance 12 years.
Self-employed for 12 years retail and commercial sales,
warehousing and logistics. Banking and Finance 20 years.

C A G Kemp
BCom, DipEd, MEd,
MAICD, MACE
(Deputy Chairman)

Experience in Retail Operations, Corporate IT
Management and Business Education.

S M Allison-Rogers
FAICD

Managing Director of own company since 1991, experience
in R&D, retail, wholesale, manufacturing, import and
export, IP and licensing.

30,667

R M Rex
BEc

Ex Manager for Melbourne Stockbroking firm R.O
Williams, Tolhurst & Co., partner Philatelic Firm Rex & Fair
(Melbourne) 20 years, St Michaels’ Collegiate ex Board
Member and Family Property & Financial interests Hobart.

81,969

J A Simon
FAICD, MSc, BSc (Eng)
(resigned on 28/09/17)

CEO of timber wholesaler Simmonds Lumber Pty Ltd from
2011 until 2015, Chairman of Forest and Wood Products
Australia, previously a Director of Natbuild, CEO of
Pine Solutions and CEO of Hudson Timber & Hardware.
Experience in the Building & Hardware Industry.

202

53,000

558

GENERAL MANAGER
J C Hutton
MBA, BCom

20 years’ experience in Retail, Wholesale and General
Management across various FMCG businesses.

Nil

COMPANY SECRETARY & COMPANY ACCOUNTANT
A L Smith
Adv Dip Bus Acc
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20 years’ experience in various accounting roles both in
public practice accounting and industry and has worked
for Kemp & Denning Limited since 2013.

Nil
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SCHEDULE OF DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS ATTENDED
DURING THE YEAR TO 31 MAY 2018
During the year the Company held 10 Board Meetings of Directors. The names of Directors are outlined below.
The attendances of Directors at meetings of the Board were:

G Goodman
C A G Kemp
S M Allison-Rogers
R M Rex
J A Simon

Board Meetings
Eligible to Attend
Attended
10
9
10
10
10
10
10
8
2
2

DIRECTORS BENEFITS

THE PRESENT AND THE FUTURE

Since the end of the previous financial year no
Director of the Company has received or become
entitled to receive a benefit (other than a benefit
included in the aggregate amount of emoluments
received or receivable by Directors shown in the
notes to the accounts, or the fixed salary of a
full-time employee of the Company) by reason
of a contract made by the Company or a related
Corporation with a Director or with a Firm of which
he or she is a member, or with a company in which
he or she has a substantial financial interest.

Your Directors are focused on improving long-term
return on assets and have undertaken significant
background and preparatory activities to support
potential future redevelopment of our main
Melville Street Property. In the meantime, however,
it remains business as usual for K&D’s Hardware
operations.

AUDITORS INDEPENDENCE
DECLARATION
The auditor’s independence declaration is attached
to this report.

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS
AND AUDITORS
Under section 24 of the Company’s Constitution
each Director, Secretary and Officer is indemnified
to the extent permitted by law.
During the financial year, the Company paid a
premium in respect of a contract insuring the
Directors of the Company, the Company Secretary
and all Executive Officers of the Company and
of any related body corporate against a liability
incurred as such a Director, Secretary or Executive
Officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations
Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the
amount of the premium.
The Company has not during or since the financial
year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the
auditor of the Company or of any related body
corporate against a liability incurred as the auditor.
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The Annual General Meeting is to be held in the
Derwent Room, Wrest Point Hotel Casino, Sandy
Bay on Thursday 27 September 2018 at 10:30am
and will be an opportunity for all Shareholders to
hear further detail regarding the potential property
development options being considered. Directors
will also provide an update on trading results in the
current financial year.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
The business could not have recovered without the
commitment of our people. On behalf of the Board,
I would like to thank the management team for
their outstanding contribution and we extend our
appreciation to all the wonderful staff who make
up the K&D business for their dedication and hard
work as we continue to reposition our business.
Importantly, I can report, their efforts were
recently celebrated following the reintroduction
of company-wide long service celebrations. I
also thank our suppliers and customers for their
continued support and look forward to continuing
our relationship in FY2019.
Signed in accordance with a Resolution of Directors
made pursuant to s298 (2) of the Corporations Act 2001

Greg Goodman
Chairman
17 August 2018
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
Tel: +61 3 6234 2499
Fax: +61 3 6234 2392
www.bdo.com.au

Level 8, 85 Macquarie St
Hobart TAS 7000
GPO Box 1681 Hobart TAS 7001
AustraliaLevel 8, 85 Macquarie St

Hobart TAS 7000 GPO Box
1681 Hobart TAS 7001 Australia
Tel: +61 3 6234 2499
Fax: +61 3 6234 2392
www.bdo.com.au

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY NAME OF DAVID PALMER TO THE DIRECTORS OF KEMP &
DENNING LIMITED
DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY NAME OF DAVID PALMER TO THE
DIRECTORS OF KEMP & DENNING LIMITED
As lead auditor of Kemp & Denning Limited for the year ended 31 May 2018, I declare that, to the best
auditor and
of Kemp
& there
Denning
ofAs
mylead
knowledge
belief,
haveLimited
been: for the year ended 31 May 2018,
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:
1. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
1. relation
No contraventions
of the auditor independence requirements of the
to the audit; and
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and
2. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.
2.
No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in
relationistointhe
audit.of Kemp & Denning Limited and the entities it controlled during the
This declaration
respect
period.
This declaration is in respect of Kemp & Denning Limited and the entities it
controlled during the period.

DAVID PALMER
Partner
DAVID
BDO PALMER
Audit (TAS)
Hobart,
Partner 15 August 2018

BDO Audit (TAS)
BDO Audit (TAS) ABN 82 700 612 091 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of
Hobart,
15 August 2018
BDO Australia Ltd ABN 77 050 110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit (TAS) and BDO Australia Ltd
are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK company limited by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of
independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation, other than for the
acts or omissions of financial services licensees.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
Note

Sales from continuing operations
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other revenue & income
Marketing expense
Occupancy expense
Administration expense
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Finance costs
Other expenses
Profit before income tax
Tax (expense)/income
Profit for the year
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operations
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to members of the parent entity

3

3

4a

5a

12

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
15,354,980
22,622,069
(10,667,354) (16,127,446)
4,687,626
6,534,623
2,594,135
115,582
(133,408)
(239,593)
(1,032,789)
(1,037,554)
(4,890,863)
(7,036,615)
(1,251,622)
(18,335)
(229,564)
(1,608)
(362,069)
1,204,758
(3,506,813)
7,455 (1,048,498)
1,212,213
(4,555,311)
(1,087,820)
124,393

(5,282,273)
(9,837,584)

2,695,640

(2,476,833)

(15,471)
2,680,169
2,804,562

292,504
(2,184,329)
(12,021,913)

Other comprehensive income
Income tax relating to components of other
comprehensive income
Total other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 MAY 2018
Note

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Current tax asset
Other assets
Assets classified as Held for Sale
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Other liabilities
Provisions
Liabilities classified as Held for Sale
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings
Provisions
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves
Retained earnings
TOTAL EQUITY

2018
$

2017
$

9
10
11
19
13
12

7,419,872
554,354
2,707,615
160,037
10,841,878

38,104
4,084,167
4,564,295
311,491
428,444
10,247,052
19,673,553

15
19

15,952,139 18,279,507
15,952,139 18,279,507
26,794,017 37,953,060

16
17
18
20
12

967,282 5,459,285
3,237 6,403,146
38,097
473,311
1,016,029
887,726
1,443,830 13,804,283

17
20

15,478
457,619
32,538
218,036
48,016
675,655
1,491,846 14,479,938
25,302,171 23,473,122

21

2,008,692
14,828,306
8,465,173
25,302,171

2,008,692
13,498,136
7,966,294
23,473,122

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018

Note
Balance at 31 May 2016
Comprehensive income
Profit/(loss) attributable to
members of the parent entity
Other comprehensive income
for the year
Total comprehensive income
for the year
Payment of dividends

Share
Capital
$
2,008,692

Retained
Revaluation
Earnings
Surplus
$
$
17,803,878
14,297,481

Capital
Profits
Reserve
$
1,384,985

Total
$
35,495,035

-

(9,837,584)

-

-

(9,837,584)

-

-

(2,184,329)

-

(2,184,329)

-

(9,837,584)
-

(2,184,329)
-

-

(12,021,913)
-

Balance at 31 May 2017

2,008,692

7,966,294

12,113,152

1,384,985

23,473,122

Balance at 1 June 2017
Comprehensive income
Prior year adjustment
Profit/(loss) attributable to
members of the parent entity
Transfer out on sale of PPE
Other comprehensive income for
the year
Total comprehensive income
for the year
Payment of dividends
Balance at 31 May 2018

2,008,692

7,966,294

12,113,152

1,384,985

23,473,122

-

97,940

-

-

97,940

-

124,393
1,350,000

(1,350,000)

-

124,393
-

-

-

2,680,169

-

12,680,169

2,008,692

(1,073,454)
8,465,173

1,330,169
13,443,321

1,384,985

1,330,169
(1,073,454)
25,302,171

5c,
28

5c,
28

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
Note

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Income tax refunded
Net cash provided by operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of assets
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Interest received
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Interest paid
Payment of dividend on ordinary shares
Repayment of finance leases
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities
Net increase in cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year

29(a)

9

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
21,116,088 23,825,504
(23,098,412) (22,271,552)
304,417
(1,677,907)
1,553,952
17,796,332
(16,783)
81,390
17,860,939

88,175
(804,644)
4,624
(711,845)

950,000
(7,250,000)
(18,335)
(1,073,454)
(1,385,093)
(8,776,882)
7,406,150
13,722
7,419,872

(201,651)
(229,564)
(169,628)
(600,843)
241,264
(227,542)
13,722

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
The consolidated financial statements and notes
represent those of Kemp & Denning Limited and
Kemp & Denning Hardware Pty Ltd. Kemp &
Denning Limited is a company limited by shares,
incorporated and domiciled in Australia.
The separate financial statements of the parent
entity, Kemp & Denning Limited, have not been
presented within this financial report as permitted
by the Corporations Act 2001.
The financial statements were authorised for
issue on 17th August 2018 by the directors of the
company.

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Preparation
These general purpose consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance
with the Corporations Act 2001, Australian
Accounting Standards and Interpretations of
the Australian Accounting Standards Board and
International Financial Reporting Standards as
issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board. The Group is a for-profit entity for financial
reporting purposes under Australian Accounting
Standards. Material accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of these financial statements
are presented below and have been consistently
applied unless stated otherwise.
The financial statements, except for cash flow
information, have been prepared on an accrual
basis and are based on historical costs, modified,
where applicable, by the measurement at fair value
of selected non-current assets, financial assets
and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in
the financial statements have been rounded to the
nearest dollar.
a. Principles of Consolidation
The general purpose consolidated financial
statements incorporate all of the assets,
liabilities and results of the parent (Kemp &
Denning Limited) and all of the subsidiaries
(including any structured entities). Subsidiaries
are entities the parent controls. The parent
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity.
A list of the subsidiaries is provided in Note 14.
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The assets, liabilities and results of all
subsidiaries are fully consolidated into the
financial statements of the Group from the date
on which control is obtained by the Group. The
consolidation of a subsidiary is discontinued
from the date that control ceases. Intercompany
transactions, balances and unrealised gains
or losses on transactions between group
entities are fully eliminated on consolidation.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed and adjustments made
where necessary to ensure uniformity of the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.
Equity interests in a subsidiary not attributable,
directly or indirectly, to the Group are presented
as “non-controlling interests”. The Group initially
recognises non-controlling interests that are
present ownership interests in subsidiaries
and are entitled to a proportionate share of
the subsidiary’s net assets on liquidation at
either fair value or the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
assets. Subsequent to initial recognition,
non-controlling interests are attributed their
share of profit or loss and each component of
other comprehensive income. Non-controlling
interests are shown separately within the equity
section of the statement of financial position
and statement of comprehensive income.
Business combinations
Business combinations occur where an acquirer
obtains control over one or more businesses.
A business combination is accounted for by
applying the acquisition method, unless it is a
combination involving entities or businesses
under common control. The business
combination will be accounted for from the date
that control is obtained, whereby the fair value
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
(including contingent liabilities) assumed
is recognised (subject to certain limited
exceptions).
When measuring the consideration transferred
in the business combination, any asset
or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement is also included.
Subsequent to initial recognition, contingent
consideration classified as equity is not
remeasured and its subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability
is remeasured in each reporting period to fair
value, recognising any change to fair value in
profit or loss, unless the change in value can be
identified as existing at acquisition date.		
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)
All transaction costs incurred in relation to
business combinations, other than those
associated with the issue of a financial
instrument, are recognised as expenses in profit
or loss when incurred.		
The acquisition of a business may result in the
recognition of goodwill or a gain from a bargain
purchase.
		
b. Income Tax
The income tax expense (income) for the year
comprises current income tax expense (income)
and deferred tax expense (income).		
Current income tax expense charged to profit
or loss is the tax payable on taxable income for
the current period. Current tax liabilities (assets)
are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid to (recovered from) the relevant taxation
authority using tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.		
Deferred tax expense reflects movements in
deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability
balances during the year as well as unused tax
losses.		
Current and deferred income tax expense
(income) is charged or credited outside profit
or loss when the tax relates to items that are
recognised outside profit or loss or arising from
a business combination.		
A deferred tax liability shall be recognised for
all taxable temporary differences, except to the
extent that the deferred tax liability arises from:
(a)
(b)

the initial recognition of goodwill; or
the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction which:
		
(i) is not a business combination; and
		
(ii) at the time of the transaction, affects
				 neither accounting profit nor taxable 		
			 profit (tax loss).
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to
the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled and their measurement also
reflects the manner in which management
expects to recover or settle the carrying amount
of the related asset or liability. With respect to
non-depreciable items of property, plant and
equipment measured at fair value and items
of investment property measured at fair value,
the related deferred tax liability or deferred tax
asset is measured on the basis that the carrying
amount of the asset will be recovered entirely
through sale. When an investment property
that is depreciable is held by the company in a
business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the property through use over time
(rather than through sale), the related deferred
tax liability or deferred tax asset is measured
on the basis that the carrying amount of such
property will be recovered entirely through use.
Deferred tax assets relating to temporary
differences and unused tax losses are
recognised only to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available
against which the benefits of the deferred tax
asset can be utilised.		
Where temporary differences exist in relation to
investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary difference can
be controlled and it is not probable that the
reversal will occur in the foreseeable future.		
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset
where a legally enforceable right of set-off
exists and it is intended that net settlement or
simultaneous realisation and settlement of the
respective asset and liability will occur. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are offset where: (i) a
legally enforceable right of set-off exists; and
(ii) the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities, where it is intended
that net settlement or simultaneous realisation
and settlement of the respective asset and
liability will occur in future periods in which
significant amounts of deferred tax assets
or liabilities are expected to be recovered or
settled.		
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)
Tax consolidation
The company and its wholly-owned Australian
resident entities have formed a tax-consolidated
group and are therefore taxed as a single
entity from that date. The head entity within
the tax-consolidated group is Kemp & Denning
Limited. Tax expense/income, deferred tax
liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from
temporary differences of the members of the
tax-consolidated group are recognised in the
separate financial statements of the members of
the tax-consolidated group using the “separate
taxpayer within group” approach by reference
to the carrying amounts in the separate financial
statements of each entity and the tax values
applying under tax consolidation. Current tax
liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and relevant tax
credits of the members of the tax-consolidated
group are recognised by the company (as head
entity in the tax-consolidated group). Due to
the existence of a tax funding arrangement
between the entities in the tax-consolidated
group, amounts are recognised as payable to or
receivable by the company and each member
of the group in relation to the tax contribution
amounts paid or payable between the parent
entity and the other members of the taxconsolidated group in accordance with the
arrangement.		
c. Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities
The Group measures some of its assets and
liabilities at fair value on either a recurring
or non-recurring basis, depending on the
requirements of the applicable Accounting
Standard.		
Fair value is the price the Group would receive
to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer
a liability in an orderly (ie unforced) transaction
between independent, knowledgeable and
willing market participants at the measurement
date.		
As fair value is a market-based measure, the
closest equivalent observable market pricing
information is used to determine fair value.
Adjustments to market values may be made
having regard to the characteristics of the
specific asset or liability. The fair values of
assets and liabilities that are not traded in an
active market are determined using one or
more valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the
use of observable market data.		
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To the extent possible, market information is
extracted from either the principal market for
the asset or liability (ie the market with the
greatest volume and level of activity for the
asset or liability) or, in the absence of such a
market, the most advantageous market available
to the entity at the end of the reporting period
(ie the market that maximises the receipts from
the sale of the asset or minimises the payments
made to transfer the liability, after taking into
account transaction costs and transport costs).
For non-financial assets, the fair value
measurement also takes into account a market
participant’s ability to use the asset in its
highest and best use or to sell it to another
market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.		
The fair value of liabilities and the entity’s own
equity instruments (excluding those related to
share-based payment arrangements) may be
valued, where there is no observable market
price in relation to the transfer of such financial
instrument, by reference to observable market
information where such instruments are held as
assets. Where this information is not available,
other valuation techniques are adopted and,
where significant, are detailed in the respective
note to the financial statements.		
d. Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. The cost of
manufactured products includes direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed overheads.
Overheads are applied on the basis of normal
operating capacity. Costs are assigned on the
basis of weighted average costs. 		
e. Land Held for Sale
Land held for development and sale is valued at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
includes the cost of acquisition, development,
foreign currency movements, borrowing
costs and holding costs until completion of
development. Borrowing costs, foreign currency
movements and holding costs incurred after
development is completed are expensed. Profits
are brought to account on the signing of an
unconditional contract of sale if significant risks
and rewards and effective control over the land
are passed on to the buyer at this point.		
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)
f.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is
carried at cost or fair value as indicated less,
where applicable, any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses.		
Property
Freehold land and buildings are carried at their
fair value (being the amount for which an asset
could be exchanged between knowledgeable
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction),
based on periodic, but at least triennial,
valuations by external independent valuers, less
accumulated depreciation for buildings.		
Increases in the carrying amount arising on
revaluation of land and buildings are credited to
a revaluation surplus in equity. Decreases that
offset previous increases of the same asset are
recognised against revaluation surplus directly
in equity; all other decreases are recognised in
profit or loss.		
Any accumulated depreciation at the date
of revaluation is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset and the net
amount is restated to the revalued amount of
the asset.		
Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost
basis and are therefore carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. In the event the carrying
amount of plant and equipment is greater than
the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying
amount is written down immediately to the
estimated recoverable amount and impairment
losses are recognised in profit or loss. A formal
assessment of recoverable amount is made
when impairment indicators are present (refer
to Note 1(i) for details of impairment).		
The cost of fixed assets constructed within
the consolidated group includes the cost of
materials, direct labour, borrowing costs and
an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable
overheads.		
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised as
expenses in profit or loss in the financial period
in which they are incurred.		
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Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets,
including buildings and capitalised lease assets
but excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to
the consolidated group commencing from the
time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold
improvements are depreciated over the shorter
of either the unexpired period of the lease or
the estimated useful lives of the improvements.
The depreciation rates used for each class of
depreciable assets are:		
Class of Fixed Asset
Buildings
Plant & Equipment
Leasehold Improvements

Depreciation Rate
2.5%
5% - 33%
10% - 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period.		
An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.		
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.
These gains or losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the item is derecognised. When
revalued assets are sold, amounts included in
the revaluation surplus relating to that asset are
transferred to retained earnings.		
g. Leases (the Group as lessee)
Leases of fixed assets, where substantially
all the risks and benefits incidental to the
ownership of the asset – but not the legal
ownership – are transferred to entities in the
consolidated group, are classified as finance
leases.		
Finance leases are capitalised by recognising an
asset and a liability at the lower of the fair value
of the leased property or the present value of
the minimum lease payments, including any
guaranteed residual values. Lease payments are
allocated between the reduction of the lease
liability and the lease interest expense.		
Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of their estimated useful
lives or the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)
Lease payments for operating leases, where
substantially all the risks and benefits remain
with the lessor, are recognised as expenses on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.		
Lease incentives under operating leases are
recognised as a liability and amortised on a
straight-line basis over the life of the lease term.
h. Financial Instruments
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when the entity becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument. For
financial assets, this is the date that the entity
commits itself to either purchase or sell the
asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).		
Financial instruments are initially measured at
fair value plus transaction costs, except where
the instrument is classified "at fair value through
profit or loss", in which case transaction costs
are recognised as expenses in profit or loss
immediately. Where available, quoted prices
in an active market are used to determine
fair value. In other circumstances, valuation
techniques are adopted.		
Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial instruments are subsequently
measured at fair value, amortised cost using
the effective interest method, or cost. Where
available, quoted prices in an active market
are used to determine fair value. In other
circumstances, valuation techniques are
adopted.		
Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at
which the financial asset or financial liability is
measured at initial recognition less principal
repayments and any reduction for impairment,
and adjusted for any cumulative amortisation
of the difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount calculated using the
effective interest method.		
The effective interest method is used to
allocate interest income or interest expense
over the relevant period and is equivalent
to the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments or receipts (including
fees, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life (or
when this cannot be reliably predicted, the
contractual term) of the financial instrument to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset or
financial liability. Revisions to expected future
net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment
to the carrying amount with a consequential
recognition of an income or expense item in
profit or loss.		
Annual Report 2018

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised at
settlement date in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy.		
The Group does not designate any interests
in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures as
being subject to the requirements of Accounting
Standards specifically applicable to financial
instruments. Accordingly, such interests are
accounted for on a cost basis.		
(i) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market and are subsequently measured
at amortised cost. Gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss through the
amortisation process and when the financial
asset is derecognised.
(ii) Financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities other
than financial guarantees are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Gains or losses
are recognised in profit or loss through the
amortisation process and when the financial
liability is derecognised.
Contingent consideration of an acquirer in
a business combination to which AASB 3:
Business Combinations applies is classified
as a financial liability and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.
Impairment
At the end of each reporting period, the Group
assesses whether there is objective evidence
that a financial asset has been impaired. A
financial asset (or a group of financial assets)
is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events (a “loss event”) having
occurred, which has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets.		
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)
i.

Impairment of Assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group
assesses whether there is any indication that
an asset may be impaired. The assessment
will include considering external sources of
information and internal sources of information,
including dividends received from subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures deemed to be out
of pre-acquisition profits. If such an indication
exists, an impairment test is carried out on the
asset by comparing the recoverable amount of
the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use, to
the asset’s carrying amount. Any excess of the
asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable
amount is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount in accordance with another Standard
(eg in accordance with the revaluation model in
AASB 116: Property, Plant and Equipment). Any
impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as
a revaluation decrease in accordance with that
other Standard.		

Other long-term employee benefits
Provision is made for employees’ long service
leave and annual leave entitlements not
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the annual reporting period
in which the employees render the related
service. Other long-term employee benefits are
measured at the present value of the expected
future payments to be made to employees.
Expected future payments incorporate
anticipated future wage and salary levels,
durations of service and employee departures
and are discounted at rates determined by
reference to market yields at the end of the
reporting period on corporate bonds that have
maturity dates that approximate the terms
of the obligations. Upon the remeasurement
of obligations for other long-term employee
benefits, the net change in the obligation
is recognised in profit or loss as a part of
employee benefits expense.		
The Group’s obligations for long-term employee
benefits are presented as non-current
provisions in its statement of financial position,
except where the Group does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement for at
least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period, in which case the obligations are
presented as current provisions.		

Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
j.

Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Provision is made for the Group’s obligation
for short-term employee benefits. Short-term
employee benefits are benefits (other than
termination benefits) that are expected to
be settled wholly before 12 months after the
end of the annual reporting period in which
the employees render the related service,
including wages, salaries and sick leave. Shortterm employee benefits are measured at the
(undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid
when the obligation is settled.		
The Group’s obligations for short-term
employee benefits such as wages, salaries and
sick leave are recognised as a part of current
trade and other payables in the statement of
financial position.		
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k. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a legal or constructive obligation, as a result
of past events, for which it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will result and that
outflow can be reliably measured. Provisions
are measured using the best estimate of the
amounts required to settle the obligation at the
end of the reporting period.		
l.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other shortterm highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within
short-term borrowings in current liabilities on
the statement of financial position.		
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)
m. Revenue and Other Income
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable after taking
into account any trade discounts and volume
rebates allowed. Any consideration deferred
is treated as the provision of finance and is
discounted at a rate of interest that is generally
accepted in the market for similar arrangements.
The difference between the amount initially
recognised and the amount ultimately received
is interest revenue.		
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised
at the point of delivery as this corresponds to
the transfer of significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the goods and the cessation of all
involvement in those goods.		
Interest revenue is recognised using the
effective interest method, which for floating
rate financial assets is the rate inherent in the
instrument. Dividend revenue is recognised
when the right to receive a dividend has been
established.		
Dividends received from associates and joint
ventures are accounted for in accordance with
the equity method of accounting. The carrying
amount of the investment in the associate
must be decreased by the amount of dividends
received or receivable from the associate.		
Revenue recognition relating to the provision
of services is determined with reference to the
stage of completion of the transaction at the
end of the reporting period and where outcome
of the contract can be estimated reliably. Stage
of completion is determined with reference to
the services performed to date as a percentage
of total anticipated services to be performed.
Where the outcome cannot be estimated
reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent
that related expenditure is recoverable.		

Trade and other receivables are initially
recognised at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any provision
for impairment. Refer to Note 1(i) for further
discussion on the determination of impairment
losses.		
o. Trade and Other Payables
Trade and other payables represent the liabilities
for goods and services received by the Group
that remain unpaid at the end of the reporting
period. The balance is recognised as a current
liability with the amounts normally paid within
30 days of recognition of the liability.		
Trade and other payables are initially measured
their fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.		
p. Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to prepare for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.		
All other borrowing costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.		
q. Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised
net of the amount of GST, except where the
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from
the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).		
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of
the amount of GST receivable or payable. The
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable
to, the ATO is included with other receivables or
payables in the statement of financial position.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods
and services tax.		
n. Trade and Other Receivables
Trade and other receivables include amounts
due from customers for goods sold and services
performed in the ordinary course of business.
Receivables expected to be collected within 12
months of the end of the reporting period are
classified as current assets. All other receivables
are classified as non-current assets.		
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Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The
GST components of cash flows arising from
investing or financing activities, which are
recoverable from or payable to the ATO, are
presented as operating cash flows included
in receipts from customers or payments to
suppliers.		
r.

Comparative Figures
When required by Accounting Standards,
comparative figures have been adjusted to
conform to changes in presentation for the
current financial year.		
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)
Where the Group retrospectively applies an
accounting policy, makes a retrospective
restatement of items in the financial statements
or reclassifies items in its financial statements,
a third statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the preceding period in addition to
the minimum comparative financial statement is
presented.		
s. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The directors evaluate estimates and
judgements incorporated into the financial
statements based on historical knowledge and
best available current information. Estimates
assume a reasonable expectation of future
events and are based on current trends and
economic data, obtained both externally and
within the Group. 		
Key judgements
(i) Employee benefits
		 For the purpose of measurement, AASB
119: Employee Benefits defines obligations
for short-term employee benefits as
obligations expected to be settled wholly
before 12 months after the end of the annual
reporting period in which the employees
render the related service. As the Group
expects that most employees will not use
all of their annual leave entitlements in
the same year in which they are earned
or during the following 12-month period,
obligations for annual leave entitlements
are classified under AASB 119 as other longterm employee benefits and, therefore, are
required to be measured at the present value
of the expected future payments to be made
to employees.
(ii) Provision for impairment of receivables
		 Included in trade receivables at the end of
the reporting period is an amount receivable
from sales made to a major customer during
the current financial year amounting to $0.
The customer is disputing the amount of
the sales and believes it is owed $0 While
there is inherent uncertainty in relation to
the repayment of the entire amount, the
directors believe that the full amount of
the debt is recoverable and therefore no
provision for impairment has been made.
(iii) Fair value of Property, Plant & Equipment
		 Is in accordance with policy (f), all properties
are held at fair value, refer to note 27 for
further guidance.
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New Accounting Standards for Application in
Future Periods
The AASB has issued a number of new
and amended Accounting Standards and
Interpretations that have mandatory application
dates for future reporting periods, some of
which are relevant to the Group. The directors
have decided not to early adopt any of the
new and amended pronouncements. Their
assessment of the pronouncements that are
relevant to the Group but applicable in future
reporting periods is set out below:
		
– AASB 9: Financial Instruments and
associated Amending Standards (applicable
to annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018).
t.

The Standard will be applicable
retrospectively (subject to the provisions
on hedge accounting outlined below)
and includes revised requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial
instruments, revised recognition and
derecognition requirements for financial
instruments and simplified requirements for
hedge accounting.
The key changes that may affect the
Group on initial application include certain
simplifications to the classification of
financial assets, simplifications to the
accounting of embedded derivatives,
upfront accounting for expected credit loss,
and the irrevocable election to recognise
gains and losses on investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading
in other comprehensive income. AASB 9
also introduces a new model for hedge
accounting that will allow greater flexibility
in the ability to hedge risk, particularly
with respect to hedges of non-financial
items. Should the entity elect to change its
hedge policies in line with the new hedge
accounting requirements of the Standard,
the application of such accounting would be
largely prospective.
The group is in the process of establishing a
AASB 9 project team and is in the process
of completing its impact assessment of
AASB 9. Based on a preliminary assessment
performed over each line of business and
product type, the effects of AASB 9 are not
expected to have a material effect on the
group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)
–

AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (applicable to annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
as deferred by AASB 2016-8: Amendments
to Australian Accounting Standards –
Effective Date of AASB 15).
When effective, this Standard will replace
the current accounting requirements
applicable to revenue with a single,
principles-based model. Apart from a limited
number of exceptions, including leases, the
new revenue model in AASB 15 will apply to
all contracts with customers as well as nonmonetary exchanges between entities in the
same line of business to facilitate sales to
customers and potential customers.
The core principle of the Standard is that
an entity will recognise revenue to depict
the transfer of promised goods or services
to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for the goods or
services. To achieve this objective, AASB 15
provides the following five-step process:
-		 identify the contracts with a customer;
-		 identify the performance obligations in
the contracts;
-		 determine the transaction price;
-		 allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contracts;
and
-		 recognise revenue when (or as) the
performance obligations are satisfied.
The transitional provisions of this Standard
permit an entity to either: restate the
contracts that existed in each prior period
presented per AASB 108: Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors (subject to certain practical
expedients in AASB 15); or recognise
the cumulative effect of retrospective
application to incomplete contracts on the
date of initial application. There are also
enhanced disclosure requirements.

–

AASB 16: Leases (applicable to annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019).
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When effective, this Standard will replace
the current accounting requirements
applicable to leases in AASB 117: Leases and
related Interpretations. AASB 16 introduces
a single lessee accounting model that
eliminates the requirement for leases to be
classified as operating or finance leases.
The main changes introduced by the new
Standard are as follows:
-		 recognition of a right-of-use asset and
liability for all leases (excluding shortterm leases with less than 12 months of
tenure and leases relating to low-value
assets);
-		 depreciation of right-of-use assets
in line with AASB 116: Property, Plant
and Equipment in profit or loss and
unwinding of the liability in principal and
interest components;
-		 inclusion of variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate in the initial
measurement of the lease liability using
the index or rate at the commencement
date;
-		 application of a practical expedient to
permit a lessee to elect not to separate
non-lease components and instead
account for all components as a lease;
and
-		 inclusion of additional disclosure
requirements.
The transitional provisions of AASB 16 allow
a lessee to either retrospectively apply the
Standard to comparatives in line with AASB
108 or recognise the cumulative effect of
retrospective application as an adjustment
to opening equity on the date of initial
application.
The group is in the process of establishing a
AASB 16 project team and is in the process
of completing its impact assessment of
AASB 16. Based on a preliminary assessment
performed over each line of business and
product type, the effect of AASB 16 is not
expected to have a material effect on the
group. It is impracticable at this stage to
provide a reasonable estimate of such
impact.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 2: PARENT INFORMATION
The following information has been extracted from the books and records of the parent and has been
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.

Statement of Financial Position
ASSETS
Current assets
Non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves
Retained earnings
TOTAL EQUITY
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Total profit
Total comprehensive income

2018

2017

$

$

10,841,878

19,673,553

15,952,139
26,794,017

18,279,507
37,953,060

1,443,830

13,804,283

48,016
1,491,846

675,655
14,479,938

2,008,696
14,828,306
8,465,173
25,302,171

2,008,692
7,966,294
13,498,136
23,473,122

124,393
2,680,169

(9,837,584)
(12,021,913)

Guarantees
A deed of cross guarantee was entered into between Kemp & Denning Hardware Pty Ltd and the Company
dated 30 September 1992.
Contractual commitments
At 31 May 2018, Kemp & Denning Limited had not entered into any contractual commitments for the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment (2017: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 3: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
Note

Sales revenue:
– sale of goods
Other revenue:
– interest received:
– Rental income from property rental
Total other revenue
Other income:
– Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
– Other income
Total other income
Total revenue
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Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
15,354,980 22,622,069
81,390
331,279
412,669

4,624
56,400
61,024

2,043,831
137,635
2,181,466
18,499,419

(12,900)
67,458
(54,558)
22,737,651
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 4: PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$

Profit before income tax from continuing operations includes the following specific
expenses:
a. Expenses
Interest expense on financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss
Other
Total finance costs
Employee benefits expense:
– contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds
– Other employee benefits
– Redundancy costs
Other expenses:
Impairment of non-current Property, Plant & Equipment
Depreciation
Early lease termination costs
Bad and doubtful debts:
– trade receivables
Rental expense on operating leases:
– minimum lease payments
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$

18,335
18,335

203,444
26,115
229,564

322,154
1,264,858
604,000

1,046,282
13,273,655
-

398,746
500,000

1,251,622
1,140,596
-

1,607

17,675

29,266

3,668,628
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 5: TAX (EXPENSE) / INCOME

a.

b.

c.

Note

The components of tax (expense)/income comprise:
Current tax
Deferred tax
Recoupment of prior year tax losses
Under-provision in respect of prior years
Deferred tax expense/(income) relating to the origination
and reversal of temporary differences
The prima facie tax on profit from ordinary activities before income
tax is reconciled to income tax as follows:
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations
Profit/(loss) from discontinuing operations
Profit from operations
Prima facie tax payable on profit from ordinary activities
before income tax at 27.5% (2017: 30%):
– consolidated group
Add:
Tax effect of:
– Derecognition of net deferred tax asset
– Derecognition of tax losses
– Non-deductible expenses
– Lower income tax rate
– Over/under provision for income tax
Less:
Tax effect of:
– rebateable fully franked dividends
– capital profits not subject to income tax
– tax losses transferred from controlled entities
– recoupment of prior year tax losses not
previously brought to account
Income tax attributable to entity
The weighted average effective tax rates are as follows:
Nil weighted average tax rate is a result of substantial unrecognised
tax losses carried forward by the Group.
*Relates to both continued and discontinued operations of the Group.

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
450,770
(143,993)

-

(299,322)
7,455

(355,845)
*(355,845)

1,204,758 (3,506,813)
(1,087,820) (5,974,926)
116,938 (9,481,739)

(32,158)

2,844,522

(299,322) (1,849,844)
- (1,259,382)
(26,480)
(91,140)
(259,102)
115,109
(469,795) (3,200,366)
509,408

-

7,455

(355,845)

Net-of-tax
Amount
$

Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive income:

Consolidated Group
Gain/(Loss) on revaluation of
freehold land and buildings
Share of other comprehensive
income of associates
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2018
Tax
Before-tax (Expense)
Amount
Income
$
$

Net-of-tax
Amount
$

2017
Tax
Before-tax (Expense)
Amount
Income
$
$

2,695,640

(15,471)

2,680,169

(2,476,833)

292,504

(2,184,329)

2,695,640

(15,471)

2,680,169

(2,476,833)

292,504

(2,184,329)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 6: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
The totals of remuneration paid to key management personnel (KMP) of the Group during the year are as
follows:
2018
2017
$
$
Short-term employee benefits
764,170
1,328,825
Post-employment benefits
– Employee termination payment
190,807
– Superannuation
62,128
121,701
1,017,105
1,450,526
No remuneration was paid by the subsidiary entity to KMP.
Key Management Personnel
C A G Kemp
S Allison-Rogers
G Goodman
J Simon (retired 28/09/2017)
R Rex
P Stone (retired 28/09/2017)
J Hutton
A Smith (appointed 10/08/2017)
Other KMP transactions
For details of other transactions with KMP, refer to Note 25.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 7: AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$

Remuneration of the auditor of the parent entity for:
– auditing or reviewing the financial statements
– taxation services
– Other services
Other services represent remaining fee’s paid to Deloitte
post appointment of BDO in April 2018.

NOTE 8: DIVIDEND AND FRANKING ACCOUNT

Note

CURRENT
Cash at bank and on hand
Short-term bank deposits
The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits was
between 1.40% - 3.28% (2017: 1.4%). These deposits are at call
except $25,000 which has 12 month maturity.
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash
flows is reconciled to items in the statement of financial position as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank overdrafts
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60,695
10,696
71,780

51,955

143,171

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
5,744,393 5,987,673

Opening Balance:
Declared fully franked ordinary dividend of 1,073,454 (2017: 0)
cents per share franked at the tax rate of 30% (2017: 0%)
Adjusted franking account balance:
– payment of provision for income tax
Total dividends (cents) per ordinary share for the period
Closing Balance:

NOTE 9: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

15,000
13,535
23,420

17

1,073,454

-

1,073,454
4,670,939

243,280
5,744,393

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
60,382
7,359,490
7,419,872

27,179
10,925
38,104

7,419,872
7,419,872

38,104
(24,382)
13,722
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 10: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Note

CURRENT
Trade receivables
Provision for discounts
Provision for bad and doubtful debts

10b
10a

Total current trade and other receivables
a.

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
602,005 4,157,967
(32,651)
(15,000) (73,800)
554,354 4,084,167
554,354 4,084,167

Provision for bad and doubtful debts
Movement in the provision for bad and doubtful debts is as follows:
Consolidated Group

Provision for bad and doubtful debts

Opening
Balance
1 June 2016
$
71,000

Charge for
the Year
$
17,675

Amounts
Written Off
$
(14,875)

Closing
Balance
31 May 2017
$
73,800

Provision for bad and doubtful debts

Opening
Balance
1 June 2017
$
73,800

Charge for
the Year
$
1,607

Amounts
Written Off
$
(60,407)

Closing
Balance
31 May 2018
$
15,000

Credit risk
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counterparty or
group of counterparties other than those receivables specifically provided for and mentioned within
Note 10. The main source of credit risk to the Group is considered to relate to the class of assets
described as “trade and other receivables”.
The following table details the Group’s trade and other receivables exposed to credit risk (prior to
collateral and other credit enhancements) with ageing analysis and impairment provided for thereon.
Amounts are considered as “past due” when the debt has not been settled within the terms and
conditions agreed between the Group and the customer or counterparty to the transaction. Receivables
that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of the debtors and are provided
for where there are specific circumstances indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the Group.
The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table below) are
considered to be of high credit quality.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 10: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT)
Consolidated Group

Past Due but Not Impaired
(Days Overdue)
60-90
90-120
$
$

2018
Trade and term receivables
Total

Gross
Amount
$

< 30
$

602,005
602,005

289,694
289,694

243,941
243,941

2,185
2,185

66,185
66,185

2017
Trade and term receivables
Total

4,157,967
4,157,967

3,453,703
3,453,703

465,856
465,856

81,250
81,250

157,158
157,158

Note

b.

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables
Trade and other receivables:
– total current
– total non-current
26

c.

120+
$

554,354
554,354

4,084,167
4,084,167

Collateral pledged
No collateral is held over trade and other receivables.

NOTE 11 : INVENTORIES

Note

Consolidated Group
2018
$

2017
$

CURRENT
At cost:
– raw materials and stores
– finished goods

2,801,058
2,801,058

17,707
4,585,399
4,603,106

2,707,615
2,707,615

17,707
4,546,588
4,564,295

At net realisable value:
– raw materials and stores
– work in progress
– finished goods
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 12: DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Note

Sales revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other income
Marketing expense
Occupancy expense
Administration expense
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Other expenses
Profit before income tax from discontinued operations
Tax (expense)/income
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operations
Assets held for Sale:
– land and buildings held for sale (i)
– Assets of trade business held for sale (ii)

Consolidated Group
2017
2018
$
$
5,178,649
44,417,199
(4,416,279) (34,335,662)
762,370
10,081,537
(429,164)
(455,248)
(11,408)
(202,271)
(529,447) (3,988,002)
(880,171)
(9,147,387)
- (1,354,430)
(909,126)
(1,087,820) (5,974,926)
692,653
(1,087,820)
(5,282,273)
-

5,810,684
4,436,368
10,247,052

(i) On 23 December 2016, the Company entered into an Agreement to dispose of freehold land and
buildings at 10 Derwent Park Road and 7 Linear Court Glenorchy (the “Premises”). The disposal was
completed on 30 June 2017, on which date control of the land and buildings transferred to
the buyer.
(II) On 26 May 2017, the Company signed an agreement to sell the assets of the Trade Business to
Tasmania Hardware P/L. The contract became unconditional on 30 May 2017 and was completed on
13 June 2017.
(iii)Discontinued operations include the sale of the trade business (Glenorchy and Mertonvale Circuit),
including assets and liabilities. It also includes the closure of the Cambridge store and a %
allocation of overheads.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 13: OTHER ASSETS

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$

CURRENT
Prepayments

160,037
160,037

428,444
428,444

NOTE 14: INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
a.

Information about Principal Subsidiaries
The subsidiaries listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held
directly by the Group. The proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by
Group. Each subsidiary’s principal place of business is also its country of incorporation or registration.
Name of
Subsidiary

Kemp & Denning
Hardware Pty Ltd
b.

Principal Place of
Business

Melville Street Hobart

Ownership Interest Held
by the Group
2018
2017
%
%
100
100

Proportion of Noncontrolling Interests
2018
2017
%
%
0
0

Significant Restrictions
There are no significant restrictions or bank covenants over properties held by the group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 15: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
Land and Buildings
Freehold land at:
– independent valuation 2018
– directors’ valuation 2017
Total land

11,506,887

-

- 11,850,000
11,506,887 11,850,000

Carrying amount of all freehold land had it been carried under the cost model

1,750,471

Buildings at:
– independent valuation 16 August 2017

4,368,113

-

(106,461)
4,261,652
15,768,539
2,378,135

6,304,016
(308,893)
5,995,123
17,845,123
4,899,310

– directors’ valuation 2017
Accumulated depreciation
Total buildings
Total land and buildings
Carrying amount of buildings had they been carried under the cost model
Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment:
At cost
Accumulated depreciation & impairment losses
Total plant and equipment
Total property, plant and equipment
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3,266,690

6,044,545
5,796,321
(5,860,948) (5,361,937)
183,597
434,384
15,952,136 18,279,507
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 15: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT)
a.

b.

Movements in carrying amounts
Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the
beginning and the end of the current financial year:
Freehold
properties
(Land &
Plant and Capital work
Buildings) Equipment in progress
Total
$
$
$
$
Consolidated Group
Balance at 31 May 2016
26,509,101
5,616,966
3,987
32,130,054
Additions
89,315
715,329
804,644
Disposals – written-down value
(840,871)
(840,871)
Net revaluation increments/(decrements)
(2,476,833)
- (2,476,833)
Assets reclassified for sale
(5,810,683) (1,402,914)
(7,213,597)
Impairment
(188,348) (2,794,946)
- (2,983,294)
Depreciation
(277,429)
(863,167)
(1,140,596)
Transfers to another class
3,987
(3,987)
-

Carrying amount at 31 May 2017
Additions
Disposals – written-down value
Net revaluation increments/(decrements)
Impairment

17,845,123
(4,631,189)
2,695,640
-

434,384
120,384
(113,459)
-

-

Asset reclassified as held for sale
Depreciation
Carrying amount at 31 May 2018

(141,035)
15,768,539

(257,712)
183,597

-

18,279,507
120,384
(4,744,648)
2,695,640
(398,746)
15,952,136

Impairment losses
The total impairment loss recognised in profit or loss during the period amounted to $0 (2017:
$2,983,294).
The impairment loss is separately presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
impairment of property, plant and equipment.

c.

Asset revaluations
Freehold land
At the end of the reporting period, the freehold land held by the Group was valued by an independent
valuer, Opteon. The fair value of the freehold land and buildings was determined to be $15,875,000. The
fair value of the freehold land and buildings increased by $2,695,640 (related tax effect of $15,471).
The revaluation increment net of its related tax effect was credited directly to the revaluation surplus.
The balance of the revaluation surplus relates to previous revaluation increments of freehold land.
Refer to Note 27 for detailed disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of the Group’s freehold
land and buildings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 16: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Note

Consolidated Group
2018
$

CURRENT
Unsecured liabilities:
Trade payables
Other payables (net amount of GST payable)
16a
a.

2017
$

863,501
103,781
967,282

5,304,979
154,306
5,459,285

967,282
-

5,304,979
-

(103,781)
863,501

(154,306)
5,150,673

Financial liabilities at amortised cost classified as
trade and other payables
Trade and other payables:
– total current
– total non-current
Less other payables (net amount of GST payable)
Financial liabilities as trade and other payables

26

Most trade creditors are paid 30 days from end of month.

NOTE 17: BORROWINGS

CURRENT
Bank loan secured
Bank overdraft secured
Finance lease liability secured
Total current borrowings
NON-CURRENT
Finance lease liability secured
Total non-current borrowings
Total borrowings
a.

The carrying amounts of non-current
assets pledged as security are:
Leased property, plant and equipment

NOTE 18: OTHER LIABILITIES

CURRENT
Lease incentive
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Note

22

22
26

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
- 6,300,000
24,382
3,237
78,764
3,237 6,403,146
15,478
15,478
18,715

457,619
457,619
6,860,765

15,295 18,279,507
15,295 18,279,507

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
-

38,097
38,097
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 19: TAX
Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
CURRENT
Income tax asset

-

311,491

(Charged)/ (Charged)/
Credited
Credited
Opening to Profit or Directly to Changes in Exchange Closing
Balance
Loss
Equity
Tax Rates Differences Balance
$
$
$
$
$
$
2017
Deferred tax asset/liability on:
Employee entitlements
Property, plant and equipment
Other

629,636

(332,624)

-

-

-

297,012

(1,030,639)

441,123

292,504

-

-

(297,012)

464,343

(464,343)

-

-

-

-

63,340

(355,844)

292,504

-

-

-

2018
Deferred tax asset/liabilities on:
Provisions – employee benefits
Property, plant and equipment

297,012

(136,376)

-

(24,751)

-

135,885

(297,012)

151,847

(15,471)

24,751

-

(135,885)

-

15,471

(15,471)

-

-

-

2018
$
The amounts of deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses
for which no deferred tax assets have been brought to account:
– deductible temporary differences
– tax losses – operating in nature

1,168,112
2,240,436
3,408,548

2017
$

1,849,844
1,259,382
3,109,226

The company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entity is eligible to consolidate for tax purposes
under this legislation and have elected to be taxed as a single entity from 1 June 2004. The head entity
within the tax consolidation group for the purposes of the tax consolidation system is Kemp & Denning
Limited.
Entities within the tax-consolidated group have entered into a tax funding arrangement and a tax-sharing
agreement with the head entity. Under the terms of the tax funding agreement, Kemp & Denning Limited
and each of the entities in the tax-consolidated group has agreed to pay a tax equivalent payment to or
from the head entity, based on the current tax liability or current tax asset of the entity. Such amounts are
reflected in amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax-consolidated group.
The tax sharing agreement entered into between members of the tax-consolidated group provides for the
determination of the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default
on its payment obligations or if an entity should leave the tax-consolidated group.
The effect of the tax sharing agreement is that each member’s liability for tax payable by the taxconsolidated group is limited to the amount payable to the head entity under the tax funding arrangement.
The benefits of the above temporary differences and unused tax losses will be realised when the conditions
for deductibility set out in Note 1(b) occur. These amounts have no expiry date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 20: PROVISIONS
2018
$

2017
$

CURRENT
Employee benefits
Total current provisions

473,311
473,311

1,016,029
1,016,029

NON-CURRENT
Employee benefits
Total non-current provisions

32,538
32,538

218,036
218,036

Provision for employee benefits
Provision for employee benefits represents amounts accrued for annual leave, long service leave and
provision for time bank.
The current portion for this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements
and the amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having
completed the required period of service. Based on past experience, the Group does not expect the full
amount of annual leave or long service leave balances classified as current liabilities to be settled within the
next 12 months. However, these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the Group does not
have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish to use
their leave entitlement.
The non-current portion for this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements
that have not yet vested in relation to those employees who have not yet completed the required period of
service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 21: ISSUED CAPITAL

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
2,008,692
2,008,692
2,008,692
2,008,692

2,683,635 (2017: 2,683,635) fully paid ordinary shares

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
No
No
a. Ordinary Shares
At the beginning of the reporting period
Shares issued during the year:
At the end of the reporting period

2,683,635
2,683,635

2,683,635
2,683,635

Ordinary shareholders participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in
proportion to the number of shares held.
At the shareholders’ meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise
each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands.
b. Capital Management
Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain a good debt to equity ratio, provide
the shareholders with adequate returns and ensure that the Group can fund its operations and continue
as a going concern.
The Group’s debt and capital includes ordinary share capital and financial liabilities, supported by
financial assets.
There are no externally imposed capital requirements.
Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s financial risks and
adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses
include the management of debt levels, distributions to shareholders and share issues.
Note

Total borrowings
Trade and other payables
Total debt
Less cash and cash equivalents
Net debt
Total equity
Total capital
Gearing ratio
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16
9

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
18,715
6,860,765
967,282
5,459,285
985,997 12,320,050
(7,419,872)
(38,104)
(6,433,875)
12,281,946
25,302,171 23,473,122
2,008,692
2,008,692
25%
52%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 22: CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS

a.

b.

Finance Lease Commitments
Payable – minimum lease payments:
– not later than 12 months
– between 12 months and five years
– later than five years
Minimum lease payments
Less future finance charges
Present value of minimum lease payments
The finance lease on manufacturing plant and equipment, which commenced
in 07/01/13, is a 7-year lease with an option to refinance at the end.
Operating Lease Commitments
Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not recognised in
the financial statements
Payable – minimum lease payments:
– not later than 12 months
– between 12 months and five years
In respect of non-cancellable operating leases the following liabilities
have been recognised:
Lease incentive
Current
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Note

17

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$

4,247
15,977
-

109,401
440,836
87,633

20,224
(1,509)
18,715

637,870
(101,487)
536,383

18,780
15,655

682,813
95,343

34,435

778,156

-

38,097
38,097
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 23: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS
Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
Estimates of the potential financial effect of contingent
liabilities that may become payable:
Contingent Liabilities
Rehabilitation Bond on land
Rehabilitation bond on land for which the Company
holds mining leases.

30,000

30,000

NOTE 24: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There have been no subsequent events of note relating to Kemp & Denning Limited or the entities it
controlled throughout the financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 25: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Key management personnel
Any persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of
the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity, is
considered key management personnel.
The directors of Kemp & Denning Limited during the year were:
S M Allison-Rogers
G Goodman
C A G Kemp
R M Rex
A L Smith (appointed 10/08/2017) – Secretary
R E G Kemp
J A Simon (retired 28/09/2017)
P R Stone (retired 28/09/2017) – Secretary
Y E van Tienen (retired 28/07/2017) – Secretary
The aggregate number of ordinary shares held at reporting date directly, indirectly or beneficially by
directors was 210,383.
For further details of disclosures relating to key management personnel, refer to Note 6.
Other related parties
Other related parties include close family members of key management personnel and entities that are
controlled or jointly controlled by those key management personnel, individually or collectively with their
close family members.
The directors of the consolidated entity, or their director-related entities, have transaction of a domestic or
trivial nature with entities within the consolidated entity that occur within a normal employee, customer or
supplier relationship on terms and conditions no more favourable than those with which it is reasonable to
expect the entity would have adopted if dealing with the director or director-related entity at arm’s length in
similar circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 26: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market instruments,
short-term investments, accounts receivable and payable, loans to and from subsidiaries, bills, leases,
preference shares and derivatives.
The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139: Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial
statements, are as follows:
Note

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
– trade and other payables
– borrowings
Total financial liabilities

9
10

16a
17

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
7,419,872
602,005
8,021,877

38,104
4,084,167
4,122,271

967,282 5,459,285
18,715 6,860,765
985,997 12,320,050

Financial Risk Management Policies
The directors’ overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the company in meeting its financial targets,
while minimising potential adverse effects on financial performance. Risk management policies are approved
and reviewed by the Board of Directors on a regular basis. These include the credit risk policies and future
cash flow requirements.
The main purpose of non-derivative financial instruments is to raise finance for company operations. The
company does not have any derivative instruments at 31 May 2018.
The finance committee, consisting of senior executives of the Group, meets on a regular basis to analyse
financial risk exposure and to evaluate treasury management strategies in the context of the most recent
economic conditions and forecasts. The finance committee operates under policies approved by the Board
of Directors.
Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management
The main risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, and
market risk relating to interest rate risk and other price risk.
There have been no substantive changes in the types of risks the company is exposed to, how these risks
arise, or the Board’s objectives, policies and processes for managing or measuring the risks from the
previous period.
a. Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by
counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the Group.
Credit risk is managed through maintaining procedures ensuring, to the extent possible, that
customers and counterparties to transactions are of sound credit worthiness, which includes the
utilisation of systems for the approval, granting and renewal of credit limits, the regular monitoring of
exposures against such limits and the monitoring of the financial stability of significant customers and
counterparties. Such monitoring is used in assessing receivables for impairment. Depending on the
division within the Group, credit terms are generally 7 to 30 days from the date of invoice.
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NOTE 26: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT)
Risk is also minimised through investing surplus funds in financial institutions that maintain a high credit
rating or in entities that the finance committee has otherwise assessed as being financially sound. Where
the Group is unable to ascertain a satisfactory credit risk profile in relation to a customer or counterparty,
the risk may be further managed through title retention clauses over goods or obtaining security by way
of personal or commercial guarantees over assets of sufficient value which can be claimed against in the
event of any default.
Credit risk exposures
The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of recognised financial assets at the end of the reporting
period, excluding the value of any collateral or other security held, is equivalent to the carrying amount
and classification of those financial assets (net of any provisions) as presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Credit risk also arises through the provision of financial guarantees, as
approved at board level, given to third parties in relation to obligations under its bank bill facility.
Collateral held by the Group securing receivables is detailed in Note 10.
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk with any single counterparty or group of
counterparties. Details with respect to credit risk of trade and other receivables are provided in Note 10.
Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be of high credit
quality. Aggregates of such amounts are detailed in Note 10.
Credit risk related to balances with banks and other financial institutions is managed by the finance
committee in accordance with approved board policy. Such policy requires that surplus funds are only
invested with counterparties with a Standard and Poor’s rating of at least AA–. The following table
provides information regarding the credit risk relating to cash and money market securities based on
Standard and Poor’s counterparty credit ratings:
Note

Cash and cash equivalents:
– AA rated
– BAA rated
9

Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
862,676
6,557,196
7,419,872

38,104
38,104

b. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or
otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The Group manages this risk through the
following mechanisms:
– preparing forward-looking cash flow analyses in relation to its operating, investing and financing
		activities;
– using derivatives that are only traded in highly liquid markets;
– monitoring undrawn credit facilities;
– obtaining funding from a variety of sources;
– maintaining a reputable credit profile;
– managing credit risk related to financial assets;
– only investing surplus cash with major financial institutions; and
– comparing the maturity profile of financial liabilities with the realisation profile of financial assets.
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Financial assets –
cash flows realisable
Cash and cash
equivalents
Trade, term and loan
receivables
Variable interest rate
instruments
Other investments
Total anticipated inflows
Net (outflow)/inflow on
financial instruments

Financial liabilities due
for payment
Bank bills
Trade and other payables
Finance lease liabilities
Variable interest rate
Bank Overdraft
Total contractual outflows
Less bank overdrafts
Total expected outflows

Consolidated Group

1.4%-3.28%

1.4%

5.85%

Weighted
Average%

-

7,139,661 (7,715,938)

-

-

-

4,084,167

27,180

10,764
4,122,111

7,359,490
8,021,877

602,005

60,382

-

-

24,382
11,553,819
(24,382)
11,529,437

882,216
882,216

$

-

$

(372,398)

-

-

-

372,398
372,398

372,398

$

1 to 5 Years
2018
2017

- 6,300,000
863,501
5,150,673
18,715
78,764

$

Within 1 Year
2018
2017

Financial liability and financial asset maturity analysis

$

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(85,221)

-

-

-

85,221
85,221

85,221

$

Over 5 Years
2018
2017

$

2017

10,764
4,122,111

4,084,167

27,180

24,382
12,011,438
(24,382)
11,987,056

7,139,661 (8,173,557)

7,359,490
8,021,877

602,005

60,382

882,216
882,216

- 6,300,000
863,501
5,150,673
18,715
536,383

$

2018

Total

Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing of realisation. Actual timing may therefore differ
from that disclosed. The timings of cash flows presented in the table to settle financial liabilities reflect the earliest contractual settlement
dates and do not reflect management’s expectations that banking facilities will be rolled forward.

The table below reflects an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for non-derivative financial liabilities. Bank overdrafts have been
deducted in the analysis as management does not consider that there is any material risk that the bank will terminate such facilities. The
bank does however maintain the right to terminate the facilities without notice and therefore the balances of overdrafts outstanding at
year-end could become repayable within 12 months. Financial guarantee liabilities are treated as payable on demand since the Group has no
control over the timing of any potential settlement of the liability. The Group does not hold any derivative financial liabilities directly.
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NOTE 26: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT)
c. Market risk
(i) Interest rate risk
Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at the end of
the reporting period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair
value of fixed rate financial instruments. The Group is also exposed to earnings volatility on floating
rate instruments. The financial instruments that expose the Group to interest rate risk are limited to
borrowings, listed shares, and cash and cash equivalents.
Interest rate risk is managed using a mix of fixed and floating rate debt and the Group enters into
interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps to convert the majority of debt to fixed rate.
The Group also manages interest rate risk by ensuring that, whenever possible, payables are paid
within any pre-agreed credit terms.
The net effective variable interest rate borrowings (ie unhedged debt) expose the Group to interest
rate risk, which will impact future cash flows and interest charges and is indicated by the following
floating interest rate financial liabilities:
Note
Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
Floating rate instruments
Bank overdrafts
17
24,382
Sensitivity analysis
The following table illustrates sensitivities to the Group’s exposures to changes in interest rates
and equity prices. The table indicates the impact on how profit and equity values reported at the
end of the reporting period would have been affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that
management considers to be reasonably possible.
These sensitivities also assume that the movement in a particular variable is independent of other variables.
Consolidated Group
Profit
Equity
$
$
Year ended 31 May 2018
+/– 0.5% in interest rates

+/-36,703

+/-36,703

Year ended 31 May 2017
+/– 0.5% in interest rates

+/-31,676

+/-31,676

There have been no changes in any of the assumptions used to prepare the above sensitivity analysis
from the prior year.
Fair Values		
Fair value estimation
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the following table and can
be compared to their carrying amounts as presented in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Refer to Note 27 for detailed disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities.
Differences between fair values and carrying amounts of financial instruments with fixed interest rates are
due to the change in discount rates being applied by the market since their initial recognition by the Group.
Most of these instruments, which are carried at amortised cost (ie trade receivables, loan liabilities), are
to be held until maturity and therefore the fair value figures calculated bear little relevance to the Group.
(i) Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, and trade and other payables are short-term
instruments in nature whose carrying amounts are equivalent to their fair values.
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NOTE 27: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Group measures and recognises the following assets at fair value on a recurring basis after initial
recognition:
– freehold land and buildings.
The Group does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, or any assets or
liabilities at fair value on a non-recurring basis.
a.

Fair Value Hierarchy
AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair
value hierarchy, which categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels based on
the lowest level that an input that is significant to the measurement can be categorised into as follows:
Level 1
Measurements based on quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access
at the measurement date.

Level 2
Measurements based on inputs
other than quoted prices included
in Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly.

Level 3
Measurements based on
unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one
or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of
observable market data. If all significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset or
liability is included in Level 2. If one or more significant inputs are not based on observable market data,
the asset or liability is included in Level 3.
b. Valuation Techniques
The Group selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data is available to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data primarily depends
on the specific characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The valuation techniques selected
by the Group are consistent with one or more of the following valuation approaches:
– Market approach uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions
for identical or similar assets or liabilities.
– Income approach converts estimated future cash flows or income and expenses into a single
discounted present value.
– Cost approach reflects the current replacement cost of an asset at its current service
capacity.
Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would
use when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a valuation
technique, the Group gives priority to those techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs and
minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed using market data (such as publicly
available information on actual transactions) and reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would
generally use when pricing the asset or liability are considered observable, whereas inputs for which
market data is not available and therefore are developed using the best information available about such
assumptions are considered unobservable.

Annual Report 2018

43

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2018
NOTE 27: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT)
The carrying amount of all other financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial
statements represents their respective net fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting
policies disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements.
Description

Non-financial assets
Freehold land and
buildings (i)

Note

Fair Value
Fair Value at 31
Hierarchy Level
May 2018
$

15

2

15,768,539

Valuation
Technique(s)

Inputs Used

Market approach using
recent observable market
data for similar properties

Observable
market
prices

15,768,539
(i) The fair value of freehold land and buildings is determined at least every three years based on
valuations by an independent valuer. At the end of each intervening period, the directors review the
independent valuation and, when appropriate, update the fair value measurement to reflect current
market conditions using a range of valuation techniques, including recent observable market data
and discounted cash flow methodologies. Valuations were undertaken on both 103 Melville Street
and 159-163 Harrington Street by Opteon on the 16th of August 2017.
c.

Disclosed Fair Value Measurements
The following assets and liabilities are not measured at fair value in the statement of financial position,
but their fair values are disclosed in the notes:
– loans and advances to related parties;
– associates;
– bank bills;
– lease liability; and
– bank debt.
The following table provides the level of the fair value hierarchy within which the disclosed fair value
measurements are categorised in their entirety and a description of the valuation technique and inputs used:
Description
Liabilties
Lease liability

Note

Fair Value
Hierarchy Level

30

2

Valuation Technique

Inputs Used

Income approach using
discounted cash flow
methodology

Current commercial
borrowing rates for
similar instruments

There has been no change in the valuation technique used to calculate the fair values disclosed in the
financial statements.

NOTE 28: RESERVES
a.

Revaluation Surplus
The revaluation surplus records revaluations of non-current assets. Under certain circumstances
dividends can be declared from this reserve.
Note

Revaluation surplus
Net gain/loss on revaluation of land and buildings:
– net gain/loss on revaluation of properties
Total other comprehensive income for the year
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Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$

2,680,169
2,680,169

(2,184,329)
(2,184,329)
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NOTE 29: CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Consolidated Group
2018
2017
$
$
(a) Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities
with profit after income tax
Profit from ordinary activities after income tax
Non-cash flows in profit from ordinary activities
– Depreciation
– Impairment charges
– (Gain)/Loss on disposal of assets
– Increase/(Decrease) in deferred tax accounts

124,393 (9,837,584)

Changes in assets and liabilities
– Decrease/(Increase) in receivables
– Decrease/(Increase) in other assets
– (Decrease)/Increase in payables
– (Decrease)/Increase in other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
(b) Changes in Liabilities
arising from Financing
Activities

1 June
2017
$

Cash flows

(6,324,382)
(457,619)
(78,764)
6,860,765

6,324,382
457,619
60,049
6,842,050

1,140,596
2,983,294
62,096
(5,651,598)

3,529,813
2,436,578
(4,469,377)
(1,103,924)
393,090
(1,677,906)

1,052,477
9,102,159
(1,513,158)
(1,435,928)
7,205,550
1,553,952

Non-cash changes

Acquisition

Short term borrowings
Long term borrowings
Lease liabilities
TOTAL

398,746
(2,594,135)
(2,070,996)

-

FX
Movements
-

Fair value
Rechanges classification
-

31 May
2018
$

18,715
18,715

NOTE 30: COMPANY DETAILS
The registered office of the company is:
Kemp & Denning Limited
103 Melville Street
Hobart TAS 7000
The principal place of business is:
Kemp & Denning Limited
103 Melville Street
Hobart TAS 7000
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Kemp & Denning Limited, the directors of the company
declare that:
1.

The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 9 to 48, are in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001 and:
a. comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which, as stated in accounting policy Note 1 to the
financial statements, constitutes compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS); and
b. give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 31 May 2018 and of the performance for the
year ended on that date of the consolidated group.

2. In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay
its debts as and when they become due and payable.

Greg Goodman
Chairman
Dated this 17th day of August 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the members of Kemp & Denning Limited
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report
Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Kemp & Denning Limited (the Company), which comprises the
statement of financial position as at 31 May 2018, the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive
income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the financial report, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’
declaration.
In our opinion the accompanying financial report of Kemp & Denning Limited, is in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i) Giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 May 2018 and of its financial
performance for the year ended on that date; and
(ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section
of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the
ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We
have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given
to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this
auditor’s report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this
auditor’s report is information included in the annual report but does not include the financial report and our
auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

BDO Audit (TAS) ABN 82 700 612 091 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO Australia Ltd ABN 77 050 110 275, an Australian
company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit (TAS) and BDO Australia Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK company limited by guarantee, and form part of the
international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation, other than for the acts or omissions of
financial services licensees.
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In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
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Responsibilities of the directors for the Financial Report
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directors
for the Financial
Report
The directors of the
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for the preparation
of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
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As lead auditor of Kemp & Denning Limited for the year ended 31 May 2018, I declare that, to the best
further description
description ofofour
responsibilities
for for
the the
audit
of the
reportreport
is located
at the at the Auditing and
AA further
our
responsibilities
audit
offinancial
the financial
is located
ofAssurance
my
knowledge
and
belief,
there
have
been:
Standards
website
at:
Auditing and
AssuranceBoard
Standards
Board(http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx)
website (http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx)
at:
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar3.pdf.
1. http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar3.pdf.
No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
to theforms
audit;part
and of our auditor’s report.
Thisrelation
description
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
2. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.
This declaration is in respect of Kemp & Denning Limited and the entities it controlled during the
period.
BDO Audit (TAS)
BDO Audit (TAS)

DAVID E PALMER
Partner
Hobart, 20 August 2018
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Partner
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